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Introduction 

INTRODUCTION 

USS Constitution ("Old Ironsides") has been a major icon of the American 
experience for over two hundred years now. For those living and working in 
Boston, her black and white hull and raked masts towering nearly two hundred 
feet combine as a familiar, constant and reassuring sight where the Mystic and 
Charles Rivers join the harbor. Most assume they are seeing a ship that always 
has looked that way. 

Artists and model makers, however, tend to be more curious, to try and 
determine whether or not the ship had her current appearance at some point in 
the past, and if not, how she did look. What they soon discover is that, like most 
things in this world, the fabled frigate evolved over time, depending upon the use 
to which she was to be put and what the technology of the time offered. She 
began service bearing an allegorical figurehead above her cutwater, but it was lost 
in an accident a few years later. Her gun streak, over the years, went from yellow 
to white to yellow to white to red to white. Spars and rigging regularly were 
tinkered with. Oh yes, and then there was the very brief time when she had 
paddlewheels! 

More than a quarter century of research have taught the present author that 
there is little hope of discovering every single change that occurred in the ship's 
appearance over the years, let alone acquiring all the detail of each such change 
to the degree beloved of modelers and artists. However, there is a considerable 
body of knowledge now available, and this work attempts to provide it in coherent 
form with a degree of brevity intended to make reading or studying it less of a 
task than gathering the information was. 

Readers are cautioned that a statement of fact, backed by primary historical 
evidence for a specific moment in time, may not automatically be taken as proof 
that that statement is equally valid for some previous or subsequent moment. For 
example, we know that the ship always had fore and main courses; however, the 
dimensions of these sails at any particular time were subject to variation. Too, a 
total of four patterns of 24-pounder long gun were used to produce that battery 
for the ship, and two were quite markedly different from the others. 

What follows is a compilation of data concerning the ship's appearance 
during her decades of front-line service (1798-1855). Following an overview of the 
ship's evolution during that time, the material has been divided into chapters 
dealing with major portions of the ship or important elements of her equipage to 
facilitate an understanding of the evolution of each component from original 
appearance through successive changes in chronological order. Each chapter 
must be read from the beginning in order to arrive at those elements of 
appearance present at the "chosen moment." 

That the information contained herein would be prized by artists and 
modelers became apparent in the author's association, over the years, with 
American artists James Clary, Tom W. Freeman, William Gilkerson, Mort Kunstler, 
Dean Mosher, John Charles Roach, Richard Schecht, and Charles Waterhouse; 
British artists John Batchelor and Ken Grant; and American model makers 
Laurence Arnot and Olaf A. Eriksen. It was Bill Gilkerson who specifically 
suggested that pen be put to paper in this effort. 
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OVERVIEW 

Change in Constitution began almost immediately. The ship that began her 
first commission in July 1798 was not that depicted in the builder's draught, nor 
did she carry the projected gun batteries. By the time that commission ended, in 
1802, boats had been added to her inventory and one sail dropped from her suit. 

Preparations for her second commission in 1803 made further changes: her 
gun batteries were reduced, both in numbers of guns and numbers of calibers; 
most of her masts were replaced by new ones constructed in a different manner; 
and the transom was altered slightly. During its four-year run, when the ship first 
saw action off Tripoli, the bulwarks about the spar deck were extended; additional 
long guns were emplaced, only later to be removed and supplanted by her first 
carronades; and the bowhead area was reconfigured. 

Complaints about the original 24-pounder long guns had begun almost as 
soon as the first ships of the new navy took them to sea, so when Constitution

sailed at the start of her third commission in 1809. she was armed with a battery 
of all-new Ion uns and another of recently cast carronades in a combination that 
would vary only slightly over the coming three decades. Too, the bulwarks around 
her spar deck assumed the configuration they would have for the duration of the 
period. Bow and stern decorations were changed and simplified. As the 
commission proceeded through the War of 1812, the number of ports in the hull 
was increased, her masts were extended to accommodate skysails, a new auxiliary 
mast was installed, the dolphin striker was changed, the gun streak was altered in 
a case of tactical deception, and the spar deck gun battery experienced two minor 
changes during the period. In early 1816, she began five years in ordinary. 

From 1821 to 1828, except for a five-month period in 1824, the ship was in 
the Mediterranean. Upon coming out of ordinary, experimental modifications were 
made to her rigging (which lasted about a year), the bow head area was 
completely enclosed on either bow, and the gun streak, once again white, was 
extended all the way around the cutwater. The gun battery was that carried at 
the close of the war. For the first three years, she was, officially, the test bed for 
the "propello marina," a set of strap-on, man-powered, paddle wheels. (They 
were actually tried out on only one occasion.) She began the latter half of the 
deployment with some entirely new elements in her sparring and rigging that 
remained in place for more than twenty-five years after she left front-line service. 

The ship's next commission, a three-year stint in the Mediterranean, was 
prefaced by her first drydocking. Despite repeated directives from the Board of 
Naval Commissioners that she was to retain her original appearance, a number of 
changes were made. Most famous was the addition of a much-contested 
figurehead of Andrew Jackson, but other highly visible alterations included new 
stern decorations and the installation of her channels of different pattern in new 
locations. She also again received the experimental rig tried for a year at the 
beginning of her previous commission. 

Constitution returned to the United States in the midsummer of 1838, not to 
be placed in ordinary but to be outfitted for another commission -- to be flagship 
of the Pacific Squadron. As such, she carried for the first time a separate 
squadron commander. His presence necessitated the construction of a poop cabin 
abaft the mizzen mast on the spar deck. This, in turn, caused the cutting of three 
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HULL 

As built, Constitution was a flush-decked frigate with her quarterdeck 
enclosed by bulwarks ending with a single strake forming the upper sill of the spar 
deck gun ports. Her forecastle and waist were enclosed by netting of matching 
height supported on iron stanchions. She was fitted with a single pair of slightly 
curved wooden boat davits installed on and above the mizzen channels, and 
straight davit arms astern that were fastened to the inner larboard and starboard 
sides of the quarterdeck bulwarks and protruded aft through the transom below 
the cap rail. The taffrail had mounted upon it a "poop lantern," but no description 
has been found beyond the fact that isinglass was used as the translucent 
material. [Ltr, Secretary of War to Captain Samuel Nicholson, 7 Dec 1797, M739, 
DNA.] The quarterdeck bulwarks were pierced for seven guns on either side. 

The hull was pierced, at the gun deck level and above the wales, for fifteen 
guns. A directive late in 1795 specified which of the ship's frames each would 
intercept, as follows: 

1st port cuts off frames Y and Z 

2nd port cuts off frames T, U, and V 

3rd port cuts off frames 0, P, and Q 

4th port cuts off frames J, K, and L 

5th port cuts off frames E, F., and G 

6th port cuts off the main frame and frames A an.d B 

7th port cuts off frames 4, 5, and 6 

8th port cuts off frames 9, 10, and 11 

9th port cuts off frames 14, 15, and 16 

10th port cuts off frames 19, 20, and 21 

11th port cuts off frames 24, 25, and 26 

12th port cuts off frames 29, 30, and 31 

13th port cuts off frames 34, 35, and 36 

14th port cuts off frames 39, 40, and 41 

15th port cuts off frames 44, 45, and 46 
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Note: From the way the data are laid out in the original document, it may have 
been intended to show that each gun port cut inta. rather than through the third 
frame listed in each case. 
[Circular letter to Naval Constructors, 16 Nov 1796, M739, Roll 1, DNA.] 

At the berth deck level, airports were pierced on either quarter in way of the 
wardroom staterooms- ---- -

The hull was coppered, using English sheet copper, "as high as [the] light 
water mark." [Ltr, Secretary of War to Naval Constructor George Claghorne, 29 
Jul 1797, M739, Roll 1, DNA.] Each full sheet was 14" x 40", and was held in 
place by 40 copper nails. 

The gun streak originally began in a half-round with its apex in line with the 
after sides of the catheads on either bow and extended aft to the quarter galleries. 
Painted yellow ochre, in height it extended from the strake above the wales to the 

upper sills of the gun ports. Throughout most of the period under study, above 
the gun streak the hull was painted black; below it, it was "blackened" with a tarry 
mixture. Gun port lids were painted to match the gun streak on their outer 
surfaces (when shut) and whitewa�h_ed_ inside. 

The principal decorations at the bow were conceived by William Rush of 
Philadelphia. He described the figurehead thusly: "As the Constitution of the 
Empire is the result of the Union of the States and united begets Strength it aught 
[sic] to be represented by an Herculean figure standing on the firm rock of 
Independence resting one hand on the fasces, which was bound by the Genius of 
America and the other hand presenting a scroll of paper, supposed to be the 
Constitution of America with proper appendages, the foundation of Legislation." 
[Ltr, Rush to Naval Constructor Joshua Humphreys, 30 Apr 1795, Humphreys 
Papers, HSPa.] That Rush's scheme was carried out is proven by this diary entry 
of the Reverend Dr. Bentley of Salem for 31 May 1797: " ... saw the.new Ship ... the 
Head called Constitution, finished by Skillings. It is an Hercules with the fasces of 
the United States & the Constitution standing upon a Rock & his battoon lying 
beneath him." The Corne gouache clearly shows these elements, the whole 
apparently painted white. (The earliest known representation of the ship is a 
gouache attributed to Michel Felice Corne estimated to have been painted in the 
early summer of 1803. The property of the U. S. Navy, it is on loan to the USS 
Constitution Museum at Boston, MA. Careful analysis and comparison of its details 
with other primary sources indicate that it is an extremely accurate rendering.) 
The trail boards displayed simple garlands, highlighted in white. 
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Courtesy, Lloyd McCaffery 

Miniature of the Hercules figurehead by Mr. Lloyd McCaffery based upon the foregoing 
descriptions and the microphotographic study of the 1803 Michel Felice Corne painting by Mr. William 
Bass. 

The Secretary of War, James McHenry, proposed that the sterns of all six 
original frigates "should be all alike to shew they belong to one family and 
represented by an Eagle in the Center with the Constellations around him, 
suported on each Quarter by the figures of Liberty and Justice." [Brewington, M. 
V. Shipcarvers of North America. New York: Dover Publications, Inc., 1962.J
Another painting by Corne, showing the ship off Tripoli in 1804, done on
commission for Commodore Edward Preble, who supervised its creation, shows
that the Secretary's basic themes were carried out: the spread eagle uppermost
and centered on the transom above crossed cannon and cannon balls; two quarter
figures, presumably representing Liberty and Justice, as well as two lesser females
in reclining positions on either side of the eagle; and an assortment of stars,
garlands, and rope "framing" around and between the six stern windows, with the
ship's name in Roman letters about midway between the windows and the point
where the rudder post entered the hull. All decorations are highlighted in white.
(More than one copy of this painting exists. One is at the U. S. Naval Academy.)

Having established the baseline original configuration of the ship's hull, from 
this point on specific citations, largely from primary sources, set forth what is 
presently known of the changes occurring in subsequent years: 

17 Jul 1799 -- Draft: 23' aft, 21'6" forward; "Supposed to be in her proper trim ... " 
[Ship's log, USSCM.] 

Jul 1802 -- The catheads were decorated with "cat faces." [Simeon Skillen's 1 
Jul 1802 bill, Samuel Brown Papers, MHS.J 
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U, S, Navy 

A gouache of the ship credited to Michel Felice Corne and thought to have been done in the 
Spring/Summer of 1803. It is the only contemporary image of the ship showing the original Hercules 
figurehead. 

12 Aug 1803 -- "Carpenters on board ... making a new set of deadlights (in the 
cabin) ... " [NDBW, Vol. 2, p. 510.] Whether or not there were 
any dead/ights in the cabin prior to this is unknown. 

26 Aug 1803 -- " ... the half ports over the guns ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] Whether 
the gun ports had had half ports instead of hinged lids prior to 
this is unknown. 

Aug 1803 -- Paint pigments in ship's stores included 305# black, 3 cwt white 
lead, 3 cwt yellow, 50# green ("verdigris"), and 28# red 
("vermilion"). [Receipt for John Osborn, 1 Aug 1803, Samuel 
Brown Papers, MHS.] 

11 Jan 1804 -- Received 15 kegs of yellow ochre, 2 of red paint, 7 small ones of 
black paint, and 50 gallons of black varnish. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Jan 1804 -- Painting the hammock cloths. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

22 Feb 1804 -- "Carpenters planking up the ship's gangways, between the main 
mast and for rigging ... " [NDBW, Vol. 3, p. 452.] This was 
done to accommodate the long guns borrowed from the King of 
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Two Sicilies. 

10 May 1804 -- "Carpenters repairing the Bill boards ... " [NDBW, Vol. 4, p. 91.] 
Earliest mention of these items. 

12 Sep 1804 -- Collision with USS President off Tripoli destroys Hercules 
figurehead and trail boards. [NDBW, Vol. 5, p. 81.] 

Oct 1804 -- "The black paint which is above the yellow [streak] on the larboard 
side ... " [NDBW,Vol. 5, p. 73, 74, and 81.] 

Oct 1804 -- Bow head damage repaired with installation of a plain billet head 
and trailboards, and the area between the two uppermost rails 
"boarded up." "Carpenters ... taking off the Rail that goes 
Athwart the Stern ... " [NDBW, Vol 5, pp. 76, 80, 82.] 

11 Oct 1804 -- " ... bolting on the Billet head ... " [NDBW, Vol. 5, p. 81.] Completed 
on 18 Oct. [NDBW, Vol. 5, p. 93.] 

17 Oct 1804 -- The rails have been taken off the stern. Blacking the bends. 
Painting_qratings and capstan baL:;. [NDBW, Vol. 5, p. 92.] 

18 Jul 1808 -- "Receiving a new billet head, trail board, quarter gallery and stern 
decorations. [Brewington. Shipcarvers of North America.] 
These decorations, much simpler than the originals, apparently 
are those to be seen on the Hull model at the PeabodyEssex 
Museum, Salem, MA. 

Aug 1810 -- Received a quantity of green paint. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Sep 1810 -- Additional airports were cut at the berth deck level on either side 
extending all the way to the area below the catheads. [Ship's 
log, DNA.]

Apr 1811 -- Painting the "white streak." [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Nov 1811 -- " ... leading the cutwater ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

17 Jul 1812 -- " ... cut away the Taffrail" to make room for 2 stern chasers. 
[Journals of Surgeon Amos A. Evans and Midshipman Frederick 
Baury, the latter in MHS; ship's log, DNA.] The guns placed 
there were the 18-pounder Jong gun from the forecastle and 

# 1 larboard 24-pounder Jong gun from the gun deck. 

5-8 Aug 1812 -- Repa\ring the taffrail. [Ship's log, Henry E. Huntington Library.]

1-2 Sep 1812 -- Painting the ship and blacking the bends; blacking hammock
cloths. [Midshipman Frederick Baury Journals, MHS.] 

21 Sep 1812 -- "Carpenters empd. cutting two Bridle Ports." [Midshipman 
Frederick Baury Journals, MHS.] From this time on, the ship 

· appeared to have 16 ports on each side at the gun deck level.
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Courtesy, Olof A. Eriksen 

The bow head area of Constitution, especially the trailboard, as shown on the "Isaac Hull model" 
of the ship. This model was created late in 1812 by one or more members of the crew and presented to 
that gentleman. It currently is housed in the Peabody Essex Museum of Salem, Massachusetts. 

Courtesy, Olof A. Eriksen 

Stern of Constitution, showing decorations and quarter gallery, as depicted on the "Isaac Hull 
model" of the ship 

8 Oct 1812 -- Five "drops" (carvings) replaced between stern windows. [Navy 
Agent Amos Binney Summary Statement (with enclosures), 1-
31 Oct 1812, RG217, 4

th 
Auditor's Accounts, Alphabetical 

Series, Box 39, DNA.] 

17 Sep 1813 -- Received 70 tons of "pebble ballast." [Navy Agent Amos Binney 
Summary Statement (with enclosures), 1-30 Sep 1813, 
RG217, 4

th 
Auditor's Accounts, alphabetical Series, DNA.] 

17 Oct 1813 -- A "Copper speaking pipe" fitted from "Deck to ward Room" and a 
copper "Cistern" installed "for the funnel from the Galley to 
pass through." [Navy Agent Amos Binney Summary Account 
(with enclosures), 1-31 Oct 1831, RG217, 4

th 
Auditor's 

Accounts, Alphabetical Series, Box 39, DNA.] 
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25 Oct 1813 -- Installed a new "Cast Iron Stove" and "a Sheet Iron funnel." 
[Navy Agent Amos Binney Summary Statement (with 
enclosures), 1-31 Oct 1813, RG217, 4

th 
Auditor's Accounts,

Alphabetical Series, Box 39, DNA.] 

26 Dec 1813 -- The ship had a new 86 lb bell. [Navy Agent Amos Binney 
Summary Account (with enclosures), 1-31 Dec 1813, RG217, 
4

th 
Auditor's Accounts, Alphabetical Series, Box 39, DNA.]

11 Jan 1814 -- " ... unrigged the Quarter Davits ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] Earliest 
textual reference to these davits. Visible in the 1803 gouache 
"portrait" of the ship attributed to Come. 

11 Feb 1814 -- Painted the gun streak yellow. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

1815 -- The Board of Naval Commissioners announced the policy that the use 
of figureheads would be restricted to ships of the line. 
[Constance Lathrop, "A Vanishing Tradition -- the Figurehead," 
U. S. Naval Institute Proceedings, Nov 1927, pp. 1166-68.] 

Oct 1820 -- It was estimated that coppering a 44-gunfrigate required 1750 
sheets of 32-oz. copper, 1107 of 28-oz., and 572 of 14-oz., 
together with 328,555 copper sheathing nails. Each sheet 
measured 40" by 14". [Ltr, Board of Naval Commissioners to 
Captain Isaac Hull, RG45, Letters Sent, BNC, DNA.] 

•.i 

1.4-··-

Inventor's sketches of the "propello marina" hand-cranked paddlewheel system tested In 
Constitution in the spring of 1821. 

23 Apr 1821 -- Tested the "propello marina," a set of strap-on man-powered 
23.5-foot diameter paddlewheels, in Boston Harbor, making 
good an estimated 3.5 knots against wind and tide. [Ltr, 
Sailing Master Briscoe Doxie to Captain John Rodgers, Board of 
Naval Commissioners, 1 Jun 1821, with ends. DNA; ship's log, 
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DNA.] The device subsequently was ordered taken to 
Mediterranean for testing, but subsequently was off-loaded 
into a warehouse at Port Mahon, Minorca, in September and 
remained there until back-loaded in October 1823 preparatory 
to a return to the US. 

27 Jan 1823 -- " ... painting & blacking the Bends ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

12 Mar 1824 -- Painting hammock cloths. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

.. tlii,11•• 
··\ ... {\/J\

: Ji;;;;�,;:;: 

U. S. Navy NHS4594 

An 1824 black and white painting of the ship by a crew member. Note the continued presence of 
the double martingale, the fact that the bow head area is enclosed except overhead, the fact that the 
gun streak now extends around the cutwater, and the black-painted waist hammock nettings covers 
giving the ship the appearance of having solid bulwarks amidships. The absence of any evidence of the 
spencer gaffs first carried on this cruise casts doubt on the accuracy of spar and rigging details. 

24 Oct 1825 -- " ... painting the bends ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] This is the first record 
of painting rather than blacking the bends. 

Oct 1825 -- Paints on board included black, white lead, yellow ochre, and 
varnish. [Ship's log.] 

9 Sep 1833 -- Gun deck gun port sills made a uniform two feet above the deck. 
Bridle ports moved forward ten inches; made to same 
dimensions as gun ports. [Ltr, Chief Naval Constructor 
Samuel Humphreys to Boston Navy Yard Commandant Jesse 
Duncan Elliott, 16 Sep 1833. RG45, Entry 224, DNA.] 
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24 Feb 1834 -- Bowhead area to be enclosed down to the cutwater; the stern to 
be finished with some "light carved work of the scroll or wreath 
character." [Ltr, Captain John Rodgers, Board of Naval 
Commissioners, to Commandant Jesse Duncan Elliott, RG45, 
DNA.] Elliott, however, already had caused to be carved bas 
relief busts of Captains Isaac Hull, William Bainbridge, and 
Charles Stewart -- the "victor captains" -- for installation 
across the transom above the cabin windows. [Ltr, Elliott to 
SecNav, 22 Feb 1834, M125, Roll 191, DNA.] 

zi:::::: \: 
.\f;;fc�(J:J:[. 
'• :$-�::f:5 

·-:::v
-

jj� 

Brewington, Shipcarvers of North America (1962) 

The 1834 figurehead of Andrew Jackson with the replacement head In place. 

28 Apr 1834 -- Figurehead of President Andrew Jackson installed. [Preble, RADM 
George Henry. History of the Boston Navy Yard. Ms. MHS.] 

3 Sep 1834 -- The channels are to be split into short sections and installed on 
"the lower part of the second strake above the spar deck port 
sill ... so far from the seam only as will allow for caulking." The 
chain bolts were driven into the strake next above the top of 
the gun deck ports, about 1/3 the width of the strake from the 
lower edge. The preventer bolts went through the strake of 
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spirketting next above the gun deck waterways. [Ltr, Captain 
Charles Morris, Board of Naval Commissioners, to Elliott, 3 
Sep 1834. RG45, M125, DNA.] This new arrangement, much 
criticized when installed, very nearly caused the ship's loss on 
an 1835 voyage. It is presently unknown if or when to the 
"old style" was returned to the ship. 

15 Mar 1835 -- Decapitated portion of Jackson figurehead replaced at New York. 
[Ltrs, Captain Jesse Duncan Elliott to Secretary of the Navy 
Mahlon Dickerson, 15 Mar 1835, and Captain Charles G. 
Ridgely to SecNav, 16 Mar 1835, both RG45, M125, Roll 204, 
DNA.] 

Mar 1835 -- The ship was fitted with iron sheathed billboards. [Ltr, Captain 
Charles G. Ridgely to Secretary of the Navy Mahlon 
Dickerson, 20 Mar 1835, RG45, M125, Roll 204, DNA.] 

Aug 1839 -- " ... painting the bends ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Jan 1842 -- Board of Naval Commissioners decreed that USN hulls were to be 
black with a white streak, and that inboard bulwarks were 
limited to white, straw, or green. Brass could be used for 
cabin and wardroom quarterdeck rails, and nothing else. 
[Circular ltr, Board of Naval Commissioners, 19 Jan 1842, 
RG45, Circular Letters, BNC, DNA.] 

8 May 1844 -- The ship painted with white lead; the gun streak, red. [Lieutenant 
John B. Dale Journal, NEHGS.] 

30 May 1845 -- " ... painting the white streak ... " [Ship's log, DNA; Midshipman 
Meriwether Patterson Jones Journal, DNA.] This indicates the 
ship was returned to her conventional black and white paint 
scheme. 

Dec 1846 -- Original Jackson figurehead replaced by a new version. 
[Brewington, Shipcarvers of North America.] 

Dec 1847 - Profile drawing by Naval Constructor Samuel M. Pook shows that the 
bulwarks have been extended completely around the spar deck, 
broken only by the 2'6" wide entry ports. Hammock nettings 
on either side extend from the vicinity of the catheads to the 
taffrail. [Plan 107-13-l0F, RG19, DNA.] 
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Brewington, Shipcarevers of North America (1962) 

The second Andrew Jackson figurehead, installed prior to the 1848 recommissioning. Now on display at 
the Naval Academy. 

15 Mar 1849 -- " ... carpenters shifting boat davits ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Sep 1850 -- Mention made of " ... white streak ... " and black hammock cloths. 
[Ship's log, DNA.] 

Jan 1851 -- Blacking the bends. [Ship's log, DNA.] It would appear that the 
Navy had reverted to the old method of lower hull preservation 
(see Aug 1839 entry). 

May 1854 -- " ... painting the white streak ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Oct 1854 -- " ... painting the white streak ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

28 Oct 1854 -- While at anchor, ship struck amidships by an American whaler 
that, among other things, carried away two half ports from gun 
ports. This may indicate that, at this time, the ship now had 

hinged port lids. 
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MASTS, SPARS, RIGGING, AND SAILS 

As completed in the spring of 1798, Constitution was equipped with a 
bowsprit and three masts. Each was composed of several sections, each 
successive section of smaller diameter and length, and each section made from a 
single tree. The actual dimensions of these masts and their spars can only be 
approximated as those used by her outfitters have not been found, and such data 
as exist indicate that there was a range of views on what was "right." For 
example, here are the views of four knowledgeable men at the time: 

Total length of Main Mast 
Total length of MnMast Yards 

Total length of Fore Mast 
Total length of FMast Yards 

Total length of Mizzen Mast 
Total length of MzMast Yards 

A B C D 

221. 7 214. 6 212.6 210.1
240.4 237.6 234.1 225.1 

197.1 199.8 198.0 197.4 
211. 5 218.0 220.0 214.1

177.1 161. 8 175. 8 156.0 
158.2 172. 6 176.0 137.1 

"A" is David Steele, British author of Steele's Elements 
of Mastmaking, Sailmaking and Rigging ( 1794). 

"B" is Captain John Barry, prospective commanding officer 
of USS United States. 

"C" is Joshua Humphreys, designer of the 44s. 
"D" is Captain Thoms Truxtun, prospective commanding 

officer of USS Constellation. 
[From the Secretary of War to William Pennock, Norfolk, VA, 8 Oct 1795, M739, 
Roll1, DNA.] 

Significantly, in January 1796, the Naval Constructors and Superintendents 
were told they were at liberty to determine mast and spar specifications for their 
respective ships. [Circular letter to Naval Constructors and Superintendents, 25 
Jan 1795, M739, Roll 1, DNA.] 

In July 1806, Naval Constructor Josiah Fox sent a letter to Commandant 
Thomas Tingey of the Washington Navy Yard providing dimensions for masts of 
several classes of ships. Whether these are his personal views -- he was the only 
Naval Constructor then -- or whether they can be considered officially decreed 
material is unknown. Given the informality of those times, it is probable that they 
are his personal views, but as the only officer of the Navy concerned with such 
things "full time," probably also may be take as official. 

"Table of Dimensions of parts of Masts for the first. .. class ... of frigates 

"The different parts of a main mast for the 1st class of Frigates [Dimensions 
follow in order: length (in feet), breadth at heel, breadth "in between," breadth at 
head, thickness at heal, thickness "in between," and thickness at head (all in 
inches). 

Lower spindle to line straioht 
29.11 X 20.5 X - I9 X 20.5 X - X 7 
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Second piece of spindle 
77.4 X 20 X - X 9 X 20 X - X 14 

Third piece of spindle 
48 X 16 X - X 14 X 8.5 X - X 11 

After lower fish 
57.8 X 17.5 X - X 14 X 14 X - X 14 

After upper fish 
50.1 X 15.25 X - X 14 X 14 X - X 14 

Fore lower fish 
87.7 X 17.5 X - X 14 X 14 X - X 14 

Fore upper fish 
40.1 X 15.25 X - X 14 X 14 X - X 14 

Larboard Side Tice [sic] 
81.8 X 19 X - X 17 X 12 X - X 6 

Larboard Cheek 
62.8 X 18 X 30 X 21 X 6.25 X 17 X 9 

Paunch 
54 X 12 X - X 14 X 5 X - X 8.25 

The parts of a fore mast ... 

Lower Spindle to the line Straight 
27.5 X 19.5 X - X 18 X 19.5 X - X 6.5 

Second piece of Spindle 
73.4 X 19 X - X 13.5 X 19 X - X 8 

Third piece of Spindle 
44 X 15.5 X - X 13 X 7.5 X - X 10 

Fore lower Fish 
80 X 16.5 X - X 13 X 13 X - X 13 

Fore upper Fish 
36.4 X 13 X - X 12.5 X 13 X - X 13 

After Lower Fish 
70 X 16.5 X - X 13 X 13 X - X 13 

After upper Fish 
45.4 X 13 X - X 12 X 13 X - X 13 

Larboard Side Tice [sic] 
75 X 18 X - X 16 X 11 X - X 5 

Larboard Cheek 
57.2 X 17 X 29 X 20 X 8 X 16 X 9 

Paunch 
48.6 X 11 X 11 X - X 13 X 4 X - X 7.5 
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Mizen masts for the first ... class of Frigates, each Mast to be of a solid stick 

Length 
Diam. Pam [?]

1st quarter 
2d quarter 

94' 
26" 
25. 5"
24.25"

3d quarter 
Hounds 
Heel 
Head 

22.25" 
22.25" 
22.25" 
16.25" 

Bowsprit [Figures, in order, are: length (in feet), breadth of heel, "breadth 
between," breadth at head, thickness at heel, "thickness between," thickness at 
head, and number of pieces.] 

Upper Tice rsicl 
6B x 16.S x 20 x 13.5 x 14 x 12.5 x 11.5 x 1 

Lower Tice rsicl 
6B x 16.S x 20 x 13.5 x 16 x 19 x 13.5 x 1 

Upper side of Larboard fish 
68 X B.5 X 11.5 X 7 X 25 X 29 X 21.5 X 2 

Upper side of upper fish 
68 X 27 X 29.5 X 21.25 X 7 X - X 6 X 1 

[Ltr, Josiah Fox to Thomas Tingey, 19 Jul 1806, M124, Roll 11, DNA.] 

This confirms the fact that the shift, noted in 1801 in Constitution's case, had 
been made from all pole masts to only the mizzen being a pole mast. Whether or 
not these dimensions were faithfully followed for all ships is unknown. 

A table of data relating to "Old Ironsides" during her frontline service is to be 
found in Appendix F. During her initial commission, she experienced repeated 
problems with her masting, apparently due in large measure to their insufficient 
size and strength. 

American rigging practice is known generally to have employed rope of 
somewhat greater dimension that British practice in a given situation. Appendix E 
provides specific data regarding Constitution's standing rigging as recorded by an 
officer present at her launching and may be used as a basis of comparison with 
the many British source books on the subject that are available. 

Because detailed records do not seem to have been kept, precise information 
on sail dimensions also is lacking. The only such record presently known in 
Constitution's case, from 1824, is reproduced in E. 

Known changes in masting, rigging, and sails following commissioning 
follow: 

Oct 1798 -- Fore, main and mizzen topgallant and royal masts mentioned. 
[NDQW; Journal of Midshipman James Pity, DNA.] 

Oct 1798 -- Two mentions of a spritsail. [Midshipman James Pity Journal, 
DNA.] These are the only references to the actual use of a 
spritsail in this ship's history. 

8/9 Jan 1799 -- Ship's company made splinter nettings. [Ship's logs.] 
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24 Jan 1799 -- "Carryed [sic] away the maintopmast crossbraces and main 
topmast stay ... " [Ship's log.] 

Jan 1799 -- Sailmakers making awnings. [Ship's log, USSCM.] 

Jun 1799 -- Sailmakers making awnings. Tarred rigging. [Ship's log, USSCM.] 

Jun 1799 -- The yards were blacked. [Ship's log, USSCM.] 

Jul 1799 -- The masts were painted. [Ship's log, USSCM.] 

Dec 1799 -- Main shrouds in the 44s are 10 1/2"; number of strands not 
mentioned. [Ltr, Secretary of the Navy Benjamin Stoddert to 
Joshua Humphreys, 25 Dec 1799, RG45, M209, Roll 1, DNA.] 

14 Jul 1800 -- The new mainmast, a "made" mast, is to be 101' 6" tall, "which will 
be four feet shorter than the one she now has ... " [Ltr, Captain 
Silas Talbot to Navy Agent Stephen Higginson, 14 Jul 1800. 
Mystic Seaport Library.] 

Aug 1800 -- Painted the mainmast. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

5 Nov 1800 -- The new main topsail is to be 50' at the head and 80' at the foot, 
the new fore topsail, 46' at the head and 72' at the foot. 
[Ltr, Captain Silas Talbot to Navy Agent Stephen Higginson, 
Boston, MA, 5 Nov 1800, Mystic (CT) Seaport Library.] 

Aug 1801 -- Iron hoops were purchased for the fore and main masts and 
bowprit, showing they were to be "made masts." [Receipt for 
hoops from Ebenezer Leman, Samuel Brown Papers, MHS.] 

Dec 1801 -- Masts for 44s: fore, 95' x 32"; main, 105' x 35"; mizzen, 92' x 24"; 
and bowsprit, 64' x 34". [Ltr, Secretary of the Navy Benjamin 
Stoddert to Navy Agent William Pennock, 5 Dec 1801, RG45, 
M209, Roll 2, DNA.] 

11 Jun 1803 -- "The Main Mast ... is a made Mast Consisting of 28 pieces ... " 
[NDBW, vol 1, p. 450.] 

3 Dec 1803 -- Painting bowsprit. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

9 Jan 1804 -- Blackening lower and topsail yards. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

15 Jan 1804 -- Used 36 fathoms of 9" and 46 of 6" to gammon and woold the 
bowsprit. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

25 Jan 1804 -- Painting the masts. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Feb 1804 -- " ... scraping the topmasts ... " [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Sep 1804 -- " ... blacking the yards ... " [NDBW, Vol. 5, p. 57.] 



Masts, Spar, Rigging, and Sails 

This sketch, believed to be from 18D9, shows Constitution following her 18D8 overhaul. Note the 
open waist and bulwarked forecastle. Commodore John Rodgers' broad command pennant (burgee) flies 
at the main. 

Jun 1810 -- Mast hoops were 2.5", 3", or 3.5" wide and 3/8" thick. [Ltr, 
Secretary of the Navy Paul Hamilton to Navy Agent James 
Beatty, 2 Jun 1810, RG45, M209, Roll 4, DNA.] 

Jul 1810 -- The rake of the foremast from the trestletrees is 3' 6 1/2"; that of 
the mainmast, 2' 7 1/4"; and the mizzen 4' 1 3/4". [Ship's 
log, DNA.] 

Jul 1810 -- Blacking the yards. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Oct 1810 -- Blacking the yards. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Mar 1811 -- Varnished spars. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Apr 1811 -- Tarring rigging. [Ship's log, DNA.] 

Oct 1811 -- 11 . . .  blackening the yards ... 1
1 [Midshipman Frederick Baury Journals,

MHS.] 

28 May 1812 -- Painted the main and fore tops. [Midshipman Frederick Baury 
Journals, MHS.] 

1 Jun 1812 -- Trysail mast was swayed up abaft the mizzenmast. [Midshipman 
Frederick Baury Journals, MHS.] It continues to this day. 
































































































































































